Coordinating «Wicked Issues»:
The County Governor's Role in Norwegian Internal Security

Lise Hellebø Rykkja





The Stein Rokkan Centre for Social Studies (the Rokkan Centre) runs a publication series consisting of two parts, Reports and Working Papers, in addition to a Reprint series. The Director of the Rokkan Centre together with the Research Directors form the editorial board of the publication series.

The editorial board is responsible for classification of publications as Reports or Working Papers.

The Report series includes scientific papers, such as final reports on research projects. Manuscripts are assessed by the editorial board or a senior researcher appointed by the board.

The Working Paper series includes working papers, lecture transcripts and seminar papers. The manuscripts published as Working Papers are approved by project managers.

The Reprint series includes papers that have previously appeared in academic journals or books.

ISSN 1503-0946

ROKKANSENTERET NYGÅRDSGATEN 5 N-5015 BERGEN TEL. +47 55 58 97 10 FAX +47 55 58 97 11

E-MAIL: POST@ROKKAN.UIB.NO WWW.ROKKANSENTERET.UIB.NO

# Coordinating «Wicked Issues»: The County Governor's Role in Norwegian Internal Security

LISE HELLEBØ RYKKJA

STEIN ROKKAN CENTRE FOR SOCIAL STUDIES

UNIFOB AS

NOVEMBER 2009

# Contents

Preface	3
Sammendrag	5
Summary	4
Introduction	6
CRISIS MANAGEMENT AND COORDINATION	7
CIVIL PROTECTION AND INTERNAL SECURITY IN NORWAY	9
Data and method	12
COORDINATION WITHIN DIFFERENT RISK AREAS	13
VERTICAL VS. HORIZONTAL RELATIONS	16
Mutual trust	
Mutual contact	
Coordination	
Regional variation	18
Summing up	20
Conclusion	21
References	

# **Preface**

This paper is part of the research project «Multi-level governance in the tension between functional and territorial specialization», which is funded by the Norwegian Research Council and the DEMOSREG programme. A previous version was presented at the EGPA Conference 2–5. September 2009, St-Julians, Malta: «The Public Service: Public Service Delivery in the Information Age», Study Group VI on the Governance of Public Sector Organizations: «Reforming Governance of Public Sector Organizations: How Administrative Reforms Affect Autonomy, Control and Coordination». Thanks to study group discussants and colleagues at the Department for Administration and Organization Theory for valuable comments.

October 2009,

Lise Hellebø Rykkja

# Summary

Internal security, civil protection and crisis management comprise an important, but challenging policy field. Crises can be framed as «wicked issues» or problems, inherently complex and difficult to solve. Efficient crisis management involves actors in distinct sectors as well as government levels. Coordination between relevant actors is a continuous challenge. Recent public policy efforts within the field, as well as in public policy and public administration in general, have emphasized the importance of horizontal coordination. Different organizational structures, specialization principles and mechanisms of coordination complicate crisis management and policymaking. The paper examines the Norwegian County Governor's role in internal security and civil protection, based on survey data from 2008. The County Governor has a unique position between central and local government, and is responsible for coordinating regional state offices as well as local authorities in crisis situations. The paper demonstrates that coordination is recognized as important, but difficult to assess. Coordination efforts largely match regional variation in existing threats, and correspond to previous crisis experience. Mutual trust between central actors within the field is generally considered as high, while mutual contact - with the exception of contact with local authorities – is low. The vertical and hierarchical dimension largely continues to be the dominant relation despite recent efforts to strengthen the horizontal dimension. Therefore, a main conclusion is that horizontal, cross-sector coordination remains a major challenge within the field. A lack of central, national and horizontal coordination can become a serious problem in the face of a major national crisis or disaster.

# Sammendrag

Samfunnssikkerhet, beredskap og krisehåndtering er et komplisert, men viktig politikkområde. Kriser kan oppfattes som «wicked issues», det vil si særlig utfordrende og kompliserte problemer som er vanskelige å håndtere. Effektiv krisehåndtering involverer aktører fra ulike etater og sektorer, på forskjellige forvaltningsnivå, samtidig. Dette fører til viktige samordningsutfordringer. I den senere tid har myndighetene lagt særlig vekt på å styrke den horisontale samordningen innenfor samfunnssikkerhet. Den organisatoriske strukturen er preget av ulike spesialiseringsprinsipp samordningsmekanismer, noe som kompliserer politikkformulering så vel som konkret krisehåndtering. Notatet ser nærmere på fylkesmannens samordningsrolle samfunnssikkerhetsområdet, med bakgrunn i en spørreundersøkelse fra 2008. Fylkesmannen har en særegen posisjon mellom sentrale og lokale myndigheter, og et sentralt samordningsansvar i krisesituasjoner. Resultatene fra spørreundersøkelsen viser at samordning innenfor samfunnssikkerhet blir sett på som svært viktig. Samtidig er det mange som arbeider med samfunnssikkerhet og beredskap som synes det er vanskelig å karakterisere samordningen. Samordningen på bestemte risikoområder korresponderer i stor grad med regionale forskjeller i eksisterende trussel- eller risikobilde, og tidligere erfaring med konkrete kriser. Den gjensidige tilliten mellom ulike aktører innenfor feltet er høy, samtidig som kontakten mellom dem - med unntak av kontakten med kommunene – er lav. Det er den vertikale, hierarkiske dimensjonen som preger samordningen. Horisontal samordning, på tvers av sektor, er fremdeles er en viktig utfordring. I møte med større nasjonale kriser kan manglende samordning med sentrale myndigheter og på tvers av sektor representere et stort problem.

# Introduction

Internal security, civil protection and crisis management in the public sector are increasingly important in a time when we are faced with growing awareness of risk and vulnerability. Dramatic events like 9/11, the Madrid and London bombings or the Boxing Day Tsunami of 2004, threats related to climate change and extreme weather conditions (Hurricane Katrina in 2005) or pandemics (SARS, the avian flu, and presently the Swine flu), challenge public crisis management. These major catastrophes, disasters, accidents and threats may have far-reaching consequences, and demand coordinated efforts from actors in different sectors and government levels. Crisis management, civil protection and crisis management includes both preventive and reactive action. Moreover, it involves particular organizational concerns, related to issues of governance, coordination and specialization. Thus, relations between different actors, levels and sectors, become significant.

Joint efforts between actors in different sectors and at different levels of government are frequently called for in the field of civil protection or crisis management (Boin et al. 2005, Kettl 2003). This paper examines the Norwegian County Governor's coordinative role in civil protection and crisis management. Being an important regional representative, and a central link between local government and the central state, the County Governor has an important position. S/he is responsible for implementing state policies at the regional level, but also advocates the interests of local authorities towards the central state (Torgersen 1997). The County Governor has paramount coordination responsibilities within the field of civil protection and emergency preparedness. However, s/he operates within a fragmented system, characterized by a mix of specialization principles and coordination mechanisms. The County Governor coordinates, inspects and advises emergency planning at County level, both assisting and controlling the local authorities. S/he also has coordinative responsibility towards other regional state offices and private/voluntary organizations within the County. Coordinating for civil protection means coordination between traditionally distinct sectors, such as area planning, health, environment protection, and farming, forestry and rescue services. Crisis management also involves non-state actors, private enterprise and voluntary organizations. The relations between horizontal and vertical dimensions of crisis management and civil protection will be investigated further in this paper.

Coordination efforts of the public administration are particularly relevant in a time when the public sector is changing, and new ideas and models for the public sector are discussed. The New Public Management (NPM) movement of the last 25 years has been characterized by a strategy of fragmentation, increased specialization and structural devolution (Hood 1991, Christensen and Lægreid 2001, Pollitt and Bouckaert 2004). Recently, new initiatives increasingly focus on coordination, control, and integration across levels and sectors (Power 1999, Fimreite and Lægreid 2004, Bogdanor 2005,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The County Governor is both the title of the executive of the office, and the name of the office itself, and is often used interchangeably. Here, we use capital initial letters for the office (The County Governor), and lowercase letter (the governor) when speaking of a particular person/executive.

Verhoest and Bouckaert 2005, Christensen and Lægreid 2008). This corresponds to a shift from «government» (traditional «command and control» public policy) to «governance» (networks crossing the traditional hierarchical relations) (Rhodes 1997). Supposedly, effective coordination results in shared responsibility among administrators at different agencies, at multiple levels of government, and among non-governmental partners, countering the fragmentation and specialization introduced by NPM-initiatives. The motivation is to escape problems of accountability in complex systems, where (in the extreme case) no one is fully in charge of anything and nearly everyone ultimately shares responsibility for results (Kettl 2002).

Our paper presents results from a survey sent to the 18 County Governor offices in Norway in 2008. The County Governor staff was asked to characterize coordination within their County according to different risk areas, and between different actors/stakeholders within the field of civil protection. The paper has a descriptive outlook, and centers on the following issues: 1) Is coordination recognized as a problem or not? 2) How do the respondents characterize mutual trust, contact and coordination within the field? And 3) What characterizes the coordination efforts in general, and across different regions?

The paper first gives an outline of the main theoretical starting points of the study, focusing on organizational theory in terms of specialization and coordination, as well as current research within the field of internal security, civil protection and crisis management. Second, the Norwegian county structure and the County Governor's responsibilities within the field of civil protection are portrayed. Third, the paper gives an overview of the data, and discusses the results of the survey according to characterizations of coordination within specific risk areas, and between different actors within the field. Finally, a concluding section summarizes the main findings and draws some important conclusions.

# Crisis management and coordination

Our analytical focus is on organizations and organizing. A central question is how does government and the public administration's capacity to organize influence how risk and crises are dealt with? The general starting point is that organizations and organizational relations have a significant impact on perceptions, behavior, on how central issues are solved, and how major responsibilities carried out (March and Olsen 1989, Christensen, Lægreid and Fimreite 2007). Organizations are seen as critical actors. They process and handle risk, but are also potential producers of risk (Power and Hutter 2005). Efforts to manage risk and major crises involve the creation of organizational networks, or specific regulation «regimes» with distinct characteristics (Hood et al. 2001). How the organizational boundaries are drawn influences the problems and solutions policy makers become aware of, and at which level and in what context various concerns are considered (Egeberg 2003). How organizations experience their capacity and competence to prevent and manage risk and crises is significant in order to understand how they handle them (Christensen et. al. 2007). The specialization principles and mechanisms of coordination that dominate the field will have a significant impact.

Internal security, civil protection and crisis management bears directly upon the lives of citizens and the wellbeing of societies. When crises are handled well, the damage is limited. When crisis management fails, crisis impact may increase. In extreme cases, efficient crisis management is a matter of life and death. There exists a multitude of different crisis definitions (Rykkja 2008). However, Boin et al. (2005) seem to capture some essentials:

[A crisis is] a serious threat to the basic structures or the fundamental values and norms of a system, which under time pressure and highly uncertain circumstances necessitates making vital decisions.

In this definition, governance and public leadership is significant. A crisis is seen as such only when it is a threat against existing systems, values and norms. This definition also emphasizes the constraints produced by high levels of uncertainty and the necessity to respond rapidly.

Emergencies, crises and risks or threats comprising uncertain outcome can further be portrayed as «wicked issues» or problems. The phrase was first used in social planning and describes certain ill-formulated social system problems: Problems that are difficult to solve because of incomplete, contradictory, and changing requirements which also are difficult to recognize (Churchman 1967). «Wicked problems» also refers to problems that are rooted in society but deeply resistant to traditional departmental approaches (Bogdanor 2005:6). Classic examples include economic, environmental, and political issues, global climate change, healthcare, epidemics, pandemic influenza, international drug trafficking, nuclear energy and waste, and internal security. Because of complex interdependencies, the effort to solve one aspect of a wicked problem may reveal or create other problems, and it typically requires large groups of individuals to change their mindsets and behaviors in order to be solved. The complexity, and often dramatic character of such issues or crises, makes them difficult to define and resolve. Most important, they cross the established boundaries of a traditionally sector-organized state, creating extraordinary management challenges.

Adding to this, the field of civil protection and internal security is frequently described as fragmented (NOU 2000, Serigstad 2003, Høydal 2007, Kettl 2003, 2007). Crisis management involves numerous stakeholders, different sectors, and levels of government with intersecting or even conflicting interests and priorities. Thus, issues of *multi level governance* become relevant (Bache and Flinders 2004, Rykkja 2008). A crisis typically demands efficient coordination, between different levels of government (vertically), and between actors within different organizations at the same level (horizontally).

The issue of coordination of complex actions through networks of actors and organizations is widely discussed within the social sciences, and within political science and public administration in particular (Six 2004). Coordination and cooperation efforts have encouraged «whole of government» or «joined up government» initiatives worldwide (Christensen and Lægreid 2007). It is frequently seen as a reaction to the increasing specialization and fragmentation following from the NPM reforms of the 1980s and 1990s. A main aim is to get a better grip on problems and issues reaching across sectors, administrative levels, and policy areas (Richards and Smith 2006). According to Pollitt

(2003: 35), the ultimate goal is to eliminate situations where different policies undermine each other, to make better use of scarce resources, to create synergies by bringing together key stakeholders, and to offer citizens «seamless» rather than fragmented access to public services. Critics point out that more emphasis on coordination could result in blurred lines of accountability. It also demands greater implementation capacity than more traditional sector approaches.

Issues of fragmentation, specialization, and coordination within the public sector, and the consequences for policy capacity, are central discussion topics within existing literature (Painter and Pierre 2004). Classical organizational theory (Gulick 1937) emphasizes the particular dynamic relationship between specialization and coordination. The more a public organization is specialized, the more pressure there is for increased coordination (and vice versa).

Gulick (Ibid.) identifies four fundamental ways in which tasks may be distributed, according to territory, purpose (sector), function (process) or clientele served. The challenges of coordination will be different according to the type of structural specialization. In «real life», different organizations usually include a mix of the four specialization principles, resulting in corresponding coordination efforts and problems. Public administration in general is largely based on principles of purpose (sector) or process (function). The main coordinative challenge is to get different sectoral administrations to work together on cross-sector problems, and to get different professions and experts to join forces. More vertical specialization diminishes the potential (and the need) for political steering and control from the centre, but increases the need for horizontal coordination. Territorial specialization, or decentralization, simplifies coordination within a given geographical area, and the services or tasks delegated can be adapted to the needs of the areas served. Decentralization further reduces the work burden of central offices. However, an increased difficulty of maintaining a uniform, nation-wide or state-wide policy will follow.

The Norwegian state structure comprises specialization according to territory as well as specialization according to sector. It also includes elements of specialization by function and clientele. The County Governor is a regional state representative with coordinative responsibility, but is internally organized by sector. Specialization by function also exists, whereas most offices include specific units/departments responsible for emergency preparedness. A major goal behind organization by sector is to create policy standardization across territorial units. However, specialization according to territory creates difficulties for strong intra-sectoral or vertical coordination (Egeberg 2003). Crisis management and internal security make these central public policy and management discussions central. A major question is whether the coordination problems are recognized, and whether there is variation in how the responsibilities and state policies are carried out.

# Civil protection and internal security in Norway

Norway is a small country in terms of population, but rather large in terms of area. It has an extensive coastline, counting about 4.5 million people and 380 000 square km,

stretching over 2700 km from the south end to the north. It is varied, both in terms of population density, geography, topography and climate, as well as in terms of government relations. This corresponds to different risk scenarios and crisis management concerns across the country. In the north, the climate is colder and the country less densely populated. In the west, high mountains and deep fjords dominate the landscape. In the south, the landscape is characterized by more fertile and open landscape.

Norway is a unitary state, though public sector responsibilities are divided between central government and local municipalities. Traditionally, the local government enjoys an important degree of autonomy. Norwegian local democratic values are considered strong in comparative perspective. Even so, the competence division between local and central government is continuously debated (Fimreite et al. 2002, Fimreite et al. 2007). Issues of centre versus periphery is a central political cleavage in Norway, creating different priorities in the more remote areas of the North compared to the southern parts of Norway closer to the political and administrative centre near the capital city of Oslo (Rokkan 1967).

The need for efficient coordination within the field of civil protection and internal security, within the vertical dimension and, increasingly, within the horizontal dimension, has been thoroughly emphasized in several recent policy documents (NOU 2000, St. meld 17 (2001–2002), NOU 2006, St. meld 22 (2007–2008), Riksrevisjonen 2008). However, the vertical (hierarchical) dimension remains strong. In general, Norway is characterized by strong sector ministries and weak overarching ministries. This is frequently explained as a result of ministerial rule, where the government ministers are accountable to Parliament for the activities of the underlying department(s) (Fimreite and Lægreid 2004). The Ministry of Justice and the Police has a central coordinating role in civil protection, but, according to the policy documents, it needs strengthening. The importance of reinforced coordination at regional level is also emphasized.

The coordination challenges within the field are closely related to four general guiding principles: responsibility, subsidiarity, similarity and collaboration. The principle of responsibility says that the authority responsible in a «normal» situation is also responsible for prevention, preparedness and implementation in a crisis situation. As a result, responsibility in a crisis generally follows established sector lines. Different actors will take the lead in different types of crises. According to the subsidiarity principle, a crisis should be handled at the lowest level of authority possible. This places important duties on local authorities. The similarity principle says that the organization dealing with a given crisis should be the as similar as possible to the ordinary organization. Competence should therefore be within the existing organization. The principle of collaboration guides major rescue operations. Here, relevant public as well as private/voluntary organizations take action. Several different organizations might be involved. Consequently, a crisis situation potentially involves may different actors, in different sectors and at different government levels. Specific crises might involve different sets of actors. Efficient leadership and coordination is thus a major challenge.

The County Governor has a unique position S/he is the main representative of central government at regional level, and ensures that nationally approved resolutions,

decisions, aims and targets are implemented at the regional level. A major responsibility in this respect is to supervise the local authorities within their area. A main task is also to coordinate the activities of other government bodies at the County level. Some regional state authorities, such as the Norwegian Roads Administration (Vegvesenet), The Tax Administration and the Regional Health Authorities have different and therefore intersecting boundaries. This creates additional coordination problems. Recent research suggests that there is a considerable resistance from the other regional government bodies towards being coordinated by the County Governor (Hansen et al. 2009). The County Governor further has a two-fold role, whereas s/he also speaks for her/his region towards the state, and in this respect represents the interests of the local authorities. Both roles are emphasized (Flo 2004, Hansen et al. 2009). The County Governor also has a relatively independent position, and to some extent, this results in policy variation.

There are 19 counties and 18 County Governors (Oslo and Akershus share a County Governor). The counties vary considerably according to size and population, resulting in significant differences in terms of staff and economic resources (Torgersen 1997). The County Governors are placed administratively under the Ministry of Government Administration and Reform (Fornyings- og administrasjonsdepartementet, FAD), but different sector ministries take the lead according to their respective subject areas. Coordination of internal security and crisis management within the County is one of the County Governor's main responsibilities, and is mainly carried out through supervision, guidance, training and emergency exercises (Kgl. res. 18 April 2008, Rykkja 2009).

The County Governor's responsibility for regional coordination in crisis situations (in peace) is defined by *The Coordination Regulation* (Kgl. res. 12. des 1997). S/he shall supervise crisis planning within the County (e.g. other regional state offices and local authorities), ensure adequate information sharing in a crisis situation, and is responsible for setting up a County Preparedness Board (which shall include members from the public, private and voluntary sector). The general responsibility for civil protection is further defined in *the Preparedness Regulation* that came in 2008 (Kgl. res. 18 April 2008). The regulation followed up several government initiatives aiming at a strengthening of the CGs role within the field (St. meld 17 (2001–2002), St. meld 39 (2003–2004)). Here, the CG is given responsibility for coordination, supervision, initiative and planning for civil protection.

The Norwegian County Governor structure unites specialization based on *geography*, and specialization based on *purpose or sector*. There is also an element of specialization according to *process*, whereas the County Governor incorporates separate emergency preparedness units. As envisaged by Gulick (1937), this structure creates important contradictions. In the face of major crises and particular «wicked issues», it might be unclear what principle or what part of the organization that should take the lead. In a crisis situation, such leadership is essential (Boin et al. 2005). Problems of coordination and operation are multiplied in a complex structure. In our case, the management principles (responsibility, subsidiarity, similarity and collaboration) might complicate the process further, leading to fragmentation, unclear responsibilities and lack of coordinated leadership. In the following sections, the relations between different actors

within the field of internal security and civil protection, as seen from the County Governor staff's perspective, is further investigated.

# Data and method

In 2008, a survey was sent to the 18 County Governors. The questionnaire was targeted towards members of staff with specific responsibility for civil protection and internal security. It included demographic questions, questions on competence resources, practice, priorities, central aims and measures, and on horizontal and vertical relations within the office and between different actors within the field. The total number of respondents was 1136, with a response rate at 63 %. 50 % (568 respondents) reported that they had little or no responsibility for civil protection, and were therefore excluded from the data set (coded as «missing»).<sup>2</sup>

In this paper, we investigate the results on four specific questions. First, the staff was asked to characterize coordination within specific risk areas (q1): natural disasters (landslide, flood and hurricane), transport, food safety, drinking water, infection control, energy supply, information security, civil/military cooperation, fire and rescue, terrorism, and nuclear protection. They were then asked to characterize mutual trust (q2), contact (q3), and coordination (q4) between different actors within the field. This included assessment of *vertical relations* (upwards/downwards), defined as coordination with responsible departments at central level (ministries), with municipalities, and international/supranational authorities, and *horizontal relations* (sideways), defined as coordination with regional authorities in other sectors, with other CGs, with voluntary organizations and private enterprise, and other divisions within the relevant CG. The following sections will look further into the distribution and variation on these particular questions.

Further, we will to look into regional variation of coordination, both within different risk areas and between various actors within the field. Traditionally, regional division in Norway is based on geographical and dialectical differences, and the County borders are largely historical. For comparative purposes, the country is often divided into five parts: the North, the Middle/Centre, the West, the South and the East.<sup>3</sup> Here, we use a division based on how state regions are commonly defined in public administration.<sup>4</sup> Differences in terms of population, infrastructure and geography may affect prioritization as well as considerations of how good or bad coordination efforts within different risk area are. It can further affect what kinds of threats are seen as important

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The number of missing is higher on some of the survey questions. This indicates that the respondents have found these particular questions difficult to answer.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The exact boundaries may differ. For instance, the Centre region sometimes includes the County More og Romsdal, and sometimes not. Some would argue that Nordmore (the northern parts of the county) belongs to the middle/central region, while the southern part(s) belongs to the western region. Occasionally Rogaland or parts of it is considered a part of southern Norway, in other circumstances a part of western Norway. The exact border of eastern Norway also differs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> North: Finmark, Troms, Nordland. Central: Nord-Trøndelag, Sør-Trøndelag, Møre og Romsdal. West: Sogn og Fjordane, Hordaland, Rogaland. South: Vest-Agder, Aust-Agder, Telemark, Vestfold, Buskerud. East: Oslo, Akershus, Østfold, Hedmark, Oppland

or relevant. Also, earlier or recent experiences with major crises may be an influential factor.

# Coordination within different risk areas

Table 1 demonstrates the respondents' characteristics of coordination within specific risk areas.

Table 1. Coordination within different risk areas. Percentage.

	Good	Average	Bad	Do not know/	Total N = 100 %
				not relevant	
Natural disasters	38	13	2	46	334
Transport	17	21	7	55	331
Food	22	21	6	52	332
Drinking water	26	20	5	49	333
Infection control	34	14	4	48	332
Power supply	29	14	5	53	333
Information security/data protection	30	17	4	50	333
Civil/military cooperation	28	11	1	60	332
Fire and rescue	33	13	1	54	333
Terrorism	12	14	5	70	330
Nuclear protection	25	14	3	58	332
Mean	27	16	4	54	

A great number of respondents answered «do not know/not relevant» when they were asked to characterize coordination within different risk areas (46–70 percent). However, very few considered coordination to be «bad» (1–7 percent). The relatively high «do not know» proportion might indicate that the attention to coordination within these areas is, or was, generally low. It could also be that civil protection and internal security generally is an under prioritized policy area. Those who have responsibilities within the field may have other (routine) tasks within other areas that tend to take priority (only roughly 10 percent of the respondents state that civil protection and crisis management is their chief occupation<sup>5</sup>). This is argued to be a persistent problem within the field of crisis management (Drennan and McConnell 2007). Crises are low probability events within any organization, and raising resources, whether human or economic, in the face of more routine responsibilities is always difficult. The relatively high «do not know/not relevant» score might also indicate that coordination within different risk areas is difficult to assess.

Coordination is considered *best* related to natural disasters (landslide/ flood / hurricane) (38 percent «good»), infection control (34 percent), fire and rescue (33 percent), and also within information security (30 percent) and civil/military cooperation (28). These risk areas represent some of the more traditional areas of civil protection and internal security. Coordination is judged *less good* related to drinking water (26 percent), nuclear protection (25 percent) and food (22 percent). *The least good* coordination is apparently within transport (17 percent) and terrorism (12 percent).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The respondents mainly work within Agriculture (20 percent), Environment (18 percent) and Health (14 percent).

The characterizations of the different risk areas as good or less good coordinated could reflect different degrees of controversy or politicization. Coordination is likely to be considered as good within non-controversial risk areas, and less good within risk areas that are more problematic or politicized. Controversy may arise where there has recently been a major crisis, and in particular a crisis that was not handled well. On the other hand, coordination may increase and be judged better in areas where crisis experience is high, and earlier crises have been handled well. Coordination in relation to natural disasters might be an example of a more non-controversial risk area. In areas where threats or risks are perceived as remote, for instance in relation to terrorism or nuclear protection, extensive coordination may not be seen as necessary. This could explain the lower «good» score on these measures.

Table 2 looks further into regional variation according to coordination within the different risk areas. The table presents the relative proportions of respondents within each region that considers coordination within the specific risk areas as «good». To highlight differences, extreme values are emphasized. Only the comparably highest and lowest scores within each risk area are considered. The blank areas indicate that the region in question did not have any extreme scores (compared to the other regions) within this category.

	North	Central	West	South	East
High	Civil/military	Natural	Infection control	Fire/rescue	
relative	(34 %, µ 28 %)	disasters	(45 %, µ 34 %)	(38 %, µ 33 %)	
«good»		(52 %, µ 38 %)			
score			Drinking water	Nuclear	
		Power supply	(31 %, µ 26 %)	protection	
		(39 %, µ 29 %)		(30 % µ 25 % )	
Low	Fire and rescue	Infection	Terrorism		Food
relative	(18 %, µ 33 %)	control	(7 %, µ 12%)		(14 % µ 22
«good»		(26 %, µ 34 %)			%)
score	Drinking water		Transport		
	(21 %, µ 26 %)		(11 %, µ 17 %)		

**Table 2.** Relative «good» coordination score within different risk areas. Regional variation.\*

Although these issues should be further investigated, a major conclusion from Table 2 is that coordination efforts within different risk areas generally match regional variations in crisis management challenges and dominating threats. The North region stands out with the relative highest «good» score on civil/military cooperation. This might reflect the regions closeness, but also ambivalent relationship to Russia and the administration of the northern areas. Military presence has been dominant in the region for a long time. The North further stands out with the least good evaluation of coordination (compared to the other regions) within fire and rescue (18 percent «good»), and drinking water (21

-

<sup>\*</sup> Extreme values are emphasized. In the regions there are more than one risk area checking out as extreme, only the top and bottom two are considered.  $\mu$  = mean.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Terrorism is largely seen as a remote threat in Norway. This is further elaborated on in Lægreid, Fimreite and Rykkja (2009).

percent «good»). This could be taken to indicate that coordination in general is not prioritized within these areas. It could also indicate dissatisfaction with coordination efforts. Problems due to distance from central government, or because the threats in question are seen as remote, might also be relevant explanations.

The Central region is marked by a relatively high score in terms of evaluation of coordination within natural disasters. It also has the proportionally highest «good» score on coordination within power supply. The high score on natural disasters may reflect a greater focus on landslides due to the specific topography of the region (high mountains and deep crosscutting fjords). It might also reflect earlier disaster experiences. There has been continuously attention to landslide threats in the area, and the three most disastrous natural hazard events in the 20th century happened precisely here. All involved large rock slides into fjords or lakes that generated tsunamis (Loen 1905 and 1936, 61 and 73 people killed; Tafjord in 1934, 41 killed). An unexpected landslide in the city of Ålesund in 2008 demolished a house and killed five people. The area of Åkneset is under constant surveillance because of the risk of a new landslide. The high «good» score within the risk are of power supply might be related to the fact that power supply is a very resource demanding issue within this region due to its special topography.

The Western region has the highest relative score on coordination of infection control and drinking water. A relevant explanation would be the experience with the Giardia epidemic in Bergen in 2004, a crisis that affected both risk areas heavily (Dalheim 2009). The West turns out with the comparably lowest «good» score on terrorism and transport. Transport represents an important policy area within this region, especially within the county of Sogn and Fjordane. The low score on terrorism should not be overemphasized, whereas all other regions also have a rather low score within this risk area ( $\mu$ =12 %).

Overall, the respondents from the South are more positive towards coordination within all risk areas compared to the other regions. The South has the comparably highest score within the risk areas of fire and rescue, and nuclear protection. The high score on coordination within fire and rescue is also crisis related, there was a big forest fire within the region in 2008 (in the County of Aust-Agder), affecting about 30 square km. It lasted for more than five days and involved several hundred people in the rescue operation. The proportionally high score in coordination within nuclear protection in the South is more difficult to interpret without further investigation.

The East region scores comparatively low on coordination within all risk areas (as is also the case of the North region). As in the North, this might indicate that coordination is not prioritized, or not seen as necessary or very important. It could also indicate dissatisfaction with the coordination efforts in total. The East has a particularly low relative «good» score on coordination within the risk area of food. This could be explained by the fact that the region is largely an agricultural area, and food production is a major activity (especially in the counties of Hedmark and Oppland). One could also expect a relative high score on the coordination of natural disasters within this area. After a major flood in the area in 1995, a governmental commission gave several recommendations in order to reduce flood damage in the future. Flooding is a continuous threat in the area. However, the relative «good» score for the East on natural disasters is 37 %, just below average ( $\mu = 38$  %).

One risk area does not appear in the table above: information security. Although there is regional variation within this area as well (24–37 % consider coordination within information security to be «good»,  $\mu = 30$  %), the variation within each region does not reach the extreme values. It could indicate that information security is considered a more remote threat. Coordination within information security may not be considered as controversial, or could be difficult for the respondents to assess. In the table above, terrorism turns out as a comparably relevant category in the West region, whereas coordination is considered comparably lowest here. However, the overall low «good» score on the question of coordination within this area ( $\mu = 12$  %) indicates that it is considered a quite remote threat.

## Vertical vs. horizontal relations

The survey included questions on coordination between the County Governor and other relevant actors within the field of internal security/civil protection. The respondents were asked to assess mutual trust, contact, and coordination. The relevant actors represent either the vertical (up–down) dimension or the horizontal (sideways or cross-sector) dimension.<sup>7</sup>

### Mutual trust

First, the respondents were asked to characterize mutual trust. Table 3 presents the results.

<b>Table 3.</b> Mutual	trust	between	the	CG	and	different	actors	within	the	field	of	civil	protection.
Percentage.													

		Low	Average	High	Do not know/ not relevant	Total N = 100 %
Vertical dimension	Responsible ministry	1	11	85	4	553
	Other central state authorities	2	13	78	8	547
	Municipalities	2	21	72	5	552
Horizontal dimension	Other regional state agencies	1	16	72	11	545
	Private/voluntary organizations	2	27	59	12	544
	Mean	2	18	67	8	

In general, the reported mutual trust was high. Between 59 and 85 % agreed that mutual trust was high. Table 3 reveals that the vertical dimension is relatively strong. The highest reported level of trust was between the CG and the responsible ministry (85 %). The trust between the CG and the municipalities was relatively lower (72 % high trust), although still above average ( $\mu$ = 67 %). The horizontal dimension is weaker. The lowest

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The categories of the different survey questions only match roughly, whereas different labels were used for each question. This may create problems of exact definition or demarcation, but the differences are not so large as to justify an abandonment of the comparison of the responses.

reported level of high trust was between the CG and private/voluntary organizations (59 %). The trust between the CG and the municipalities is relatively speaking higher (72 % «high»), but not as high as mutual trust between the CG and other central state authorities.

#### Mutual contact

The respondents were then asked to characterize the level of *contact* with different relevant actors. The results are presented in table 4.

**Table 4.** Mutual contact between the CG and different actors within the field of civil protection. Percentage.

		Monthly or	Yearly	Seldom	Total N = 100
		more			%
Vertical dimension	Responsible ministry	7	27	67	454
	Other ministries	2	19	78	449
	DSB	5	23	71	450
	Other central state authorities	14	30	57	446
	Municipalities	36	26	38	450
	Authorities in other countries	2	7	92	443
Horizontal dimension	Other regional state agencies	15	36	49	450
	Other CGs	22	34	43	453
	Other divisions within CG	49	31	20	455
	Private/voluntary organizations	12	24	63	443
	Mean	16	26	59	

Table 4 indicates that the contact between the CG and other relevant actors is rather limited. Excluding contact within the CGs office, between 38 and 92 % respond that they seldom have contact with others. The most frequent contact is within the office, with other CGs and the local authorities. This apparently reflects an orientation towards normal routine work. The supervision of local authorities is one of the major responsibilities of the CG, and the relatively frequent contact between the CG and the local authorities (36 % monthly or more) confirms this.

Interestingly, the contact upwards with other actors in the vertical dimension is rather rare. The contact with the Ministry of Justice and the Police, and with the Directorate for Civil Defence and Emergency Planning (DSB), is rather low. Only 7 and 5 % report that they have contact with these offices monthly of more. On the one hand, this could indicate that the responsibility division between the central and the regional level is quite well defined. It could also reflect that Norway until now has not experienced any large-scale disasters that has demanded extensive national coordinative effort. The incidents that have been, have largely been dealt with at the regional or local level. On the other hand, infrequent contact might result in a stronger need for coordination when a major crisis hits. The current experience with the swine flu pandemic might potentially become such a test case.

Table 4 demonstrates that there with private/voluntary organizations is rather low. This could indicate that cross-sector relations are less well defined, and the need for contact and coordination is relatively greater.

Overall, the CG seems to be rather isolated in its work. The CG and staff seem content on fulfilling their designated tasks, at least as long as the situation is «normal». To a large extent, they trust others to concentrate on their own business. However, in a crisis situation, when those responsible for civil protection and overall crisis management have to work in a more «off routine» fashion, the mutual contact between the relevant parties will be more prominent. A major crisis could also affect the level of trust between the different actors within the field.

## Coordination

A majority (57 %) of the survey respondents characterize the coordination challenges within the field of civil protection as *large or considerable* when asked directly. Table 6 shows how the respondents judge coordination between the different actors within the field.

	33		J	J 1		0
		Good	Average	Bad	Do not know/not	Total N= 100 %
					relevant	
Vertical	State authorities	25	12	2	62	327
dimension	within the sector	23	12	2	02	327
	Municipalities	26	16	4	55	328
	International org.	6	7	6	81	324
Horizontal	State authorities in	21	17	3	58	327
dimension	other sectors	21	17	3	30	327
	Other CGs	21	14	3	61	327
	Other divisions within	30	18	2	50	324
	the CG	30	10	2	50	324
	Voluntary org.	9	19	5	68	326
	Private enterprise	6	15	9	69	327
	Mean	18	15	Δ	63	

**Table 5.** Coordination between different actors within the field of civil protection. Percentage.

Table 5 demonstrates that most (50–69 %) answer «do not know/not relevant» when asked to characterize coordination between different actors within the field. This is somewhat intriguing, considering that a majority at the same time recognize large coordination challenges within the field. Very few (2–9 %) consider coordination as «bad». Coordination is judged *best* within the CG (30 % «good»), towards municipalities (26 %) and state authorities within the sector (25 %), *less good* with state authorities in other sectors and other CGs (21 %), and *the least good* towards private enterprise, international (6 %) and voluntary organizations (9 %).

## Regional variation

Table 6 demonstrates regional variation in coordination within the field. The five regions are compared according to relative «good» score within each measure. Extremities are highlighted, whereas only the highest and lowest relative «good» scores

on each measure are considered. As in any technique designed to simplify results, the outcomes should be interpreted with care. However, by reducing complexity this way we can identify certain patterns that will be interesting to investigate further.

**Table 6.** Coordination within the field of civil protection. Regional variation, percent relative «good» coordination.\*

	North	Central	West	South	East
High relative «good» score	Supranational/ international organizations (9 %, µ=6 %)	State auth within sector (32 %, µ=25 %)  State auth in other sectors (26 %, µ=21 %)		Private enterprise (16 %, µ=6 % )  Voluntary org (13 %, µ=9 % )	Other divisions within CG (37 %, $\mu$ =30 % ) Municipalities (33 %, $\mu$ =26 % )
Low relative «good» score	State authorities in other sectors (15 %, µ=21 %)  Municipalities (15 %, µ= 26 %)		State auth within sector (12 %, µ=25 %)		

<sup>\*</sup> Extreme values are emphasized. Only the top and bottom two scores are considered.  $\mu$  = mean.

The North is marked by the relatively highest «good» score when it comes to coordination with supranational and international organizations. Although the score is low in isolated terms (9 %), the fact that the Northern region turns out with the comparably best score on this particular measure is interesting. Cross-national issues are prominent in this area, and the current Norwegian Government focuses strongly on strategic development of the northern region (Utenriksdepartementet 2006). International relations towards Sweden, Finland, and Russia, and the administration of the Barents region have always been central policy issues in the North. Our data seems to reflect these relations.

The North is further marked by the relatively *lowest* «good» score in terms of characteristics of coordination with state authorities in other sectors, and on coordination with municipalities. Thus, both vertical and horizontal coordination seems poor within this area. This could be related to the region's relative distance from the centre (Oslo). In the North, central government is seen as more remote, and «the state» might have a different connotation in the northern region compared to areas that are more central.

The Central region stands out with a relatively positive evaluation of coordination between state authorities, both within and across sectors. This indicates that there is a close relationship between the state offices, both horizontally and vertically, within the region. The Western region is characterized by a comparably low «good» score in

relation to evaluation of coordination of state authorities within the sector. This indicates poorer vertical coordination and relation to central actors within the field such as the Ministry of Justice and DSB. This corresponds to Rokkan's characterization of the western parts of Norway as a «periphery» with a marked cultural resistance towards centralizing efforts (Rokkan 1967).

The South is marked by a relatively good evaluation of coordination with the private and voluntary sector compared to the other regions. Coordination within the horizontal dimension is apparently stronger here than in the other regions. The East is marked by the comparable best «good» score on coordination within the CG, and with the municipalities. This indicates that the East is the most integrated in terms of responsibilities towards local authorities within the field of civil protection.

## Summing up

Despite important variations, the *vertical dimension* turns out to be considerably stronger than the horizontal dimension when the CG is asked to assess coordination towards different actors within the field of internal security and civil protection. This is further illustrated below in table 7.

Table 7 summarizes the results of the previous tables 3–5. The results on trust, contact and coordination are here ranged according to the categories «best», «less good» and «least good». Two variables have been extracted to represent each dimension. In the case of trust and contact, the relation between the CG and responsible ministry, and the CG and municipalities represent the vertical dimension. The relation between the CG and other regional state authorities, and the CG and the private/voluntary sector represent the horizontal dimension. In the case of coordination, this corresponds to «state authorities within the sector» and «municipalities» (the vertical dimension), and «state authorities in other sectors» and «voluntary organizations/private enterprise» (the horizontal dimension).

**Table 7.** Vertical and horizontal relations between the CG and other central actors within the field of civil protection.

Dimension	Trust	Contact	Coordination
VERTICAL	Best	Mixed (best/least good)	Best
HORIZONTAL	Least good	Least good	Mixed (less/least good)

Table 7 illustrates that the vertical relations between the different parties in the field (whether defined as mutual trust, contact, or coordination) are quite good. The characteristics lean towards the «best» category, although the results in terms of contact within the vertical dimension is somewhat mixed. As shown earlier, contact is less frequent towards central authorities and more frequent towards the local authorities. This indicates that the future coordinative challenges in particular will be in situations that demand coordination from central government. The least good relations are quite markedly found within the horizontal dimension. This further underlines the prominent cross-sector challenges within the field of civil protection.

# Conclusion

Current research on public administration and public policy points towards a strengthening of regions and the state, for the most part at the expense of local authority and autonomy. Simultaneously, mainstream public policy literature emphasizes a turn from government to governance, characterized by a strengthening of horizontal coordination through increasing contact, activity and partnerships across sectors, and a corresponding new role for the private sector within policy areas that earlier were defined within the public sphere. Coordination, both vertically and horizontally, is a significant issue within the field of internal security, civil protection and crisis management in the public sector. The adversative relationship between different intersecting specialization principles, within sectors or across sectors, at the central government level or at the local level, affects public policy formation. Changes in the relationship between the different actors within the field can have profound impact on problem-solving and policy choices. The survey material presented in this paper focus on these issues.

The survey on coordination within the field of civil protection reveals *first*, that coordination problems within the field of internal security and civil protection is recognized and seen as serious. However, the County Governor's staff is at the same time very reluctant to acknowledge specific coordination problems, both within different risk areas, and in relation to other actors within the field. Many respond either that they do not know, or that the question is irrelevant. Correspondingly, very few characterize coordination as «bad». This indicates that coordination is difficult to assess and measure. It could also mean that there is little opposition to the way things are organized and handled. More routine responsibilities and other policy areas usually take priority in «normal» situations, and crisis management and civil protection becomes less prioritized. The large number of 'do not know/not relevant' responses might indicate that there have been few serious crises that demand coordination, and that other tasks than civil protection and crisis management dominate the work agenda.

Second, the paper reveals that coordination within different risk areas largely match regional variation and current crisis management challenges. Although this should be investigated further, geography, the general socio-political characteristics of the different regions and (recent) exposure to major crisis seem to be relevant explanatory factors.

Finally, the analysis demonstrates that the *vertical* (hierarchical) dimension is the strongest, indicating that the sector-based organization principle continues to have a strong standing within the field. The horizontal dimension is weaker. This is the case regardless of a continuous emphasis, both in general literature and within the internal security/civil protection field, on the increasing importance of cross-sector and public-private relations.

Contact between the County Governor and the local authorities is generally high, and coordination with the local level is considered well. Indeed, crisis management and civil protection is generally taken care of at a local or regional level, in accordance with the guiding principles of responsibility, subsidiarity, similarity and collaboration. However, the contact between the County Governor and central authorities is generally low. In major crises, this can become decisive. Major disasters demand central engagement and

leadership, and overall efficient coordination. Coordination between different actors within the field along the horizontal dimension is, according to the findings in this paper, a continuous challenge. Lacking central control and coordination across sectors can become serious obstacles when a major national crisis or disaster hits.

# References

- Bache, I. and M.V. Flinders. (2004): Multi-level governance. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Baldersheim, H. (2003): «Det regionpolitiske regimet i omforming retrett frå periferien; landsdelen i siktel» Norsk statsvitenskapelig tidsskrift: 277–307.
- Bogdanor, V. (2005): Joined-up Government. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Boin, A., P. 't Hart, E. Stern, and G. Sundelius (2005): *The politics of crisis management : Public leadership under pressure.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Churchman, C.W. (1967): «Guest Editorial: Wicked Problems» Management Science 14 (4): 141-142.
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid (2008): «The Challenge of Coordination in Central Government Organizations: The Norwegian Case» *Public Organization Review* 8: 97–116.
- Christensen T. and P. Lægreid (2007): «The Whole-of-Government Approach to Public Sector Reform» Public Administration Review November/December 2007: 1059–1066
- Christensen T., and P. Lægreid (2001): New Public Management. The Transformation of ideas and practice. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Christensen, T., P. Lægreid, P.G. Roness and K.A. Røvik. (2007): Organization Theory and The Public Sector: Instrument, Culture and Myth. London: Routledge.
- Christensen T., P. Lægreid and A.L. Fimreite (2007): Crisis Management The Case of Internal Security in Norway. Working Paper no. 8. Bergen: Stein Rokkan Centre for Social Studies.
- Dalheim, E. (2009): Kommunal krise nasjonal vekker. En studie av Bergen kommunes håndtering av giardiautbruddet høsten 2004 (Minicipal crisis national wake up call. A study of Bergen municipality's managment of the 2004 giardia outbreak) Working Paper no 13. Bergen: Stein Rokkan Centre for Social Studies.
- Drennan, L. and A. McConnell (2007): Risk and crisis management in the public sector. New York: Routledge.
- Egeberg, M. (2003). 'How Bureaucratic structure matters: An organizational perspective', in B.G. Peters and J. Pierre (ed.): *Handbook of Political Administration*. London: Sage.
- Fimreite, A.L., Y. Flo and T. Tranvik (2002): Lokalt handlingsrom og nasjonal integrasjon: kommuneideologiske brytninger i et historisk perspektiv (Local government scope and national integration: Municipal ideology conflicts in a historical perspective). Rapport nr 50. Oslo: Makt- og demokratiutredningen 1998–2003.
- Fimreite, A.L., Y. Flo, P. Selle and T. Tranvik (2007): «Når sektorbåndene slites. Utfordringer for den norske velferdsmodellen» (Strained Sector Relations Challenges for the Norwegian Welfare Regime), *Tidsskrift for samfunnsforskning* 2: 165–196.
- Fimreite, A.L. and P. Lægreid (2004): *Statlig samordning, spesialisering og kommunalt selvstyre.* Notat skrevet på oppdrag for lokaldemokratikommisjonen. (State coordination, specialization and local authorities' selfgovernment) Bergen: Institutt for administrasjon og organisasjonsvitenskap/Universitetet i Bergen.
- Fimreite, A.L., P. Lægreid and L.H. Rykkja (2009): The role of Trust, Religion and Political Affiliation in Attitudes to Anti-Terror Measures. Working Paper no 9. Bergen: Stein Rokkan Centre for Social Studies.
- Flo, Y. (2004): Staten og sjølvstyret: ideologiar og strategiar knytt til det lokale og regionale styringsverket etter 1900. (State and Autonomy: ideologies and strategies in local and regional government after 1900). Doctoral Thesis, Department of History. Bergen: University of Bergen.
- Gulick, L.H. (1937): «Notes on the theory of organization. With special reference to government.» In Urwick, L.F. and L.H. Gulick (Eds.): *Papers on the Science of Administration*. New York: A. M. Kelley.

- Hansen, T., G.S. Hanssen, L.A. Heløe and I.M. Stigen (2006): *Den regionale stat enhet og mangfold* (The regional state unity and diversity). NIBR-report no 9. Oslo: NIBR.
- Hansen, T., M. Indset, I. Sletnes and T. Tjerbo (2009): Fylkesmannen mellom lokalt folkestyre og statlig styring (The County Governor between local and central government). NIBR-report no. 19. Oslo: NIBR.
- Hood, C. (1991): «A Public Management for All Seasons?» Public Administration 69 (1): 3-19.
- Hood, C., R. Baldwin and H. Rothstein (2001): *The Government of Risk: Understanding Risk Regulation Regimes*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Høydal, H.R. (2007): Samordning av samfunnssikkerhet i norsk sentralforvaltning (Coordination of Internal Security in the Norwegian Central Government). Working Paper no 7. Bergen: Stein Rokkan Centre for Social Studies.
- Kettl, D.F. (2002): The Transformation of Governance: Public Administration for Twenty-First Century. America Baltimore, John Hopkins University Press.
- Kettl, D.F. (2003): «Contingent Coordination. Practical and Theoretical Puzzles for Homeland Security» American Review of Public Administration 33 (3): 253–277.
- Kettl, D.F. (2007): System Under Stress: Homeland Security and American Politics. Washington, D.C.: The CQ Press.
- Kgl. res. 12. desember 2007: Retningslinjer for regionalt samordningsansvar ved kriser i fred (Royal regulation on regional responsibility for coordination in crises in peace-time).
- Kgl. res. 18. april 2008: Instruks for samfunnssikkerhets- og beredskapsarbeidet til Fylkesmannen og Sysselmannen på Svalbard. (Royal regulation on the County Governor's responsibility for internal security and emergency preparedness).
- March, J.G. and J.P. Olsen. (1989): Rediscovering institutions: the organizational basis of politics. New York: Free Press.
- NOU (2000): Et sårbart samfunn: utfordringer for sikkerhets- og beredskapsarbeidet i samfunnet (White Paper: A vulnerable society. Challenges for homeland security) Norges offentlige utredninger 2000:24. Oslo: Justis- og politidepartementet.
- NOU (2006): Når sikkerheten er viktigst (When security is the most important matter). Norges offentlige utredninger 2006:6. Oslo: Justis- og politidepartementet.
- Painter, M., and J. Pierre (Eds.) (2004). *Challenges to State Policy Capacity. Global Trends and Comparative Perspectives.* London: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Power, M. (1999): The Audit Society. Rituals of Verification. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Power, M. and B.M. Hutter (2005): Organizational encounters with risk. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Pollitt, C (2003): «Joined-up Government: A Survey». Political Studies Review 1 (1): 34–49.
- Pollitt, C. and G. Bouckaert (2004): *Public Management Reform: A Comparative Analysis*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Rhodes, R.A.W (1997): Understanding Governance. Buckingham: OpenUniversity Press
- Richards, D. and M. Smith (2006): «The Tensions of Political Control and Administrative Autonomy: from NPM to a Reconstituted Westminister Model», in T. Christensen and P. Lægreid (Eds.): Autonomy and Regulation. Coping with agencies in the modern state. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Riksrevisjonen (2008): Riksrevisjonens undersøkelse av Justisdepartementets samordningsansvar for samfunnssikkerhet. Dokument nr. 3:4 (2007–2008). Oslo: Riksrevisjonen.
- Rokkan, S. (1967): «Geography, religion and social class: Crosscutting cleavages in Norwegian politics», in Lipset, S.M., and S. Rokkan (Eds.): *Party systems and voter alignments. Cross-national perspectives.* The Free Press: New York.
- Rykkja, L.H. (2008): Flernivåstyring og krisehåndtering (Multi level governance and crisis management). Working Paper no 12, Bergen: Stein Rokkan Centre for Social Studies.

- Rykkja, L.H. (2009): Øvelse gjør mester? Øvelser som virkemiddel for bedre krisehåndtering og samfunnssikkerhet (The importance of emergency exercises in local crisis management) Working paper no 2. Bergen: Stein Rokkan Centre for Social Studies.
- Serigstad, S. (2003): Samordning og samfunnstryggleik. Ein studie av den sentrale tryggleiks- og beredskapsforvaltninga i Noreg i perioden 1999–2002. (Coordination and civil protection. A study of the Norwegian homeland security administration 1999–2002). Department of Administration and Organization Theory. Bergen: University of Bergen.
- Six, P. (2004): «Joined-Up Government in the Western World in Comparative Perspective: A Preliminary Literature Review and Exploration» *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory* 14 (1): 103–138.
- St. meld 17 (2001–2002): Samfunnssikkerhet veien til et mindre sårbart samfunn (Internal security the road to a less vulnerable society). Oslo: Justis- og politidepartementet.
- St. meld 39 (2003–2004): Samfunnssikkerhet og sivilt-militært samarbeid (Internal security and civil-militæry cooperation). Oslo: Justis- og politidepartementet.
- St. meld 22 (2007–2008): Samfunnssikkerhet. Samvirke og samordning (Internal security. Cooperation and coordination). Oslo: Justis- og politidepartementet.
- Torgersen, R.N. (1997): Fylkesmannsboka. En orientering om arbeidet i fylkesmannsembetene. (The County Governor Book. A guide to the work of the County Governor). Oslo: Fornyings- og administrasjonsdepartementet.
- Utenriksdepartementet (2006): Regieringens nordområdestrategi (Strategy for the Northern Region). Oslo: Utenriksdepartementet.
- Verhoest, K. and G. Bouckaert (2005): Machinery of Government and Policy Capacity: The Effect of Specialization and Coordination, in M. Painter and J. Pierre (Eds.): *Challenges to State Policy Capacity. Global Trends and Comparative Perspectives.* New York, Palgrave Macmillan.

1-2009

2-2009

1-2008

2-2008

### WORKING PAPERS ROKKANSENTERET (ISSN 1503-0946)

The publications can be ordered from Rokkansenteret, phone: +47 55 58 97 10,

e-mail: <a href="mailto:post@rokkan.uib.no">post@rokkan.uib.no</a>, <a href="mailto:www.rokkansenteret.uib.no">www.rokkansenteret.uib.no</a>

#### 2009

Danielsen, Ole Andreas: «Norsk sentralforvaltning under EØS-avtalen». January 2009.

Lise Hellebø Rykkja: « Øvelse gjør mester? Øvelser som virkemiddel for bedre

	J. J
	krisehåndtering og samfunnssikkerhet». March 200
3-2009	Synnøve Skarsbø Lindtner: «Hvem har makt over teksten? Marilyn Frenchs kvinner, lest i lys
	av Giddens` og Foucaults bidrag til aktør- og strukturdebatten». March 2009
4-2009	Hans-Tore Hansen: «Bidrar etableringen av lokale NAV-kontorer til bedre tilbakemeldinger
	fra brukerne?». Mai 2009
5-2009	Sindre Andre Haug: «Krisehåndtering i E.coli-saken». Mai 2009
6-2009	Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid: «Ethics, NPM and post-NPM - a study of patterns and
	tensions in the central civil service» June 2009
7-2009	Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid: «Coordination and hybrid governance - theoretical and
	empirical challenges» June 2009
8-2009	Ingvild Pedersen: «Seleksjonsproblematikk i nytt pensjonssystem» Juli 2009
9-2009	Anne Lise Fimreite, Per Lægreid and Lise Hellebø Rykkja: «The role of trust, religion and political
	affiliation in attitudes to anti-terror measures» August 2009
10-2009	Jostein Askim: «NAV i støpeskjeen. En studie av NAV-reformens interimsfase, 2005–2006»
	September 2009
11-2009	Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid: «Democracy and administrative policy: Contrasting
	elements of NPM and Post-NPM» November 2009
<b>12-</b> 2009	Lise Hellebø Rykkja: «Coordinating «Wicked Issues»: The County Governor's Role in

#### 2008

Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid: «Living in the past? - tenure and attitudes in the central

Jan-Kåre Breivik og Bodil Ravneberg: «Rom for refleksjon. Kirkens Bymisjon og oppfølging av

Norwegian Internal Security» November 2009

civil service». January 2008.

bostedsløse». April 2008.

3-2008	Hans-Erik Ringkjøb og Jacob Aars: «Får vi også vere med? Om kvinner i norsk lokalpolitikk».
	Mai 2008.
4-2008	Anne Lise Fimreite og Per Lægreid: «Byråkrati og partnerskap hånd i hånd? Om
	samordningsutfordringer i NAV». Mai 2008.
5-2008	Ole Johnny Olsen: «Institusjonelle endringsprosesser i norsk fag- og yrkesutdanning.
	Fornyelse eller gradvis omdannelse?» Mai 2008.
6-2008	Anne Lise Fimreite and Per Lægreid: «Reorganizing the Welfare State Administration. May
	2008.
7-2008	Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid: «Administrative Reforms and Competence in Central

- 8-2008 Svanaug Fjær: «Nordisk samfunnsvitenskaplig forskning om alkohol og narkotika. Utviklingstrekk og endringer i alliansen mellom kunnskapsproduksjon og politikk». Juni 2008.
- **9-2008** *Jill Loga:* «Kunsten å balansere mellom kreativitet og psykisk helsearbeid. Evaluering av Galleri VOX/Vågsbunnen Fellesatelier». Juni 2008.

- 10-2008 Jostein Askim, Tom Christensen, Anne Lise Fimreite, Per Lægreid: «Challenges and effects of administrative reform – Reorganizing the Norwegian welfare administration». August 2008
- **11-2008** *Jostein Askim, Tom Christensen, Anne Lise Fimreite, Per Lægreid*: «Implementation of Merger: Lessons from the Norwegian Welfare Bureaucracy». August 2008.
- 12-2008 Lise Hellebø Rykkja: «Flernivåperspektiv og krisehåndtering». Oktober 2008.
- 13-2008 Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid: «Scope, effects and driving forces». November 2008.
- **14-2008** *Anne Lise Fimreite:* «Mission impossible made possible? –Tenkning og argumentasjon bak partnerskapet mellom stat og kommune i NAV». Desember 2008.
- **15-2008** *Knut Grove:* «One Landscape Differing Eyes. The Interface of the Past for the Future in the Norwegian Fjord Landscape». December 2008.
- 16-2008 Knut Grove: «Det kulturelle Hardanger. Hardingen, regionen og fellesskapa. Desember 2008.
- **17-2008** *Jan-Erik Askildsen, Oddvar Kaarbøe and Tor Helge Holmås*: «Monitoring prioritization in a public health care sector». December 2008.
- **18-2008** Tor Helge Holmås, Svenn-Åge Dahl and Frode Skjeret: «Attitudes towards sickness absence in the Nordic countries». December 2008.

#### 2007

- 1-2007 Kari Ludvigsen og Svanaug Fjær: «Varig bolig framfor hospits». Februar 2007.
- **2-2007** *Kari Ludvigsen og Reidun Faye*: «Botilbud for ressurskrevende brukere innen lokal helsetjeneste i omstilling. Evaluering av prøveprosjektet Bufellesskapet Vik i Jondal kommune». May 2007.
- **3-2007** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid*: «NPM and Beyond Leadership, Culture, and Demography». June 2007.
- **4-2007** *Tord Skogedal Lindén*: «Unearthing a European Union Family Policy. The Impact of Social Protetction Policies». August 2007.
- **5-2007** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid*: «The Challenge of Coordination in Central Government Organizations». October 2007.
- 6-2007 Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid: «The Regulatory Orthodoxy in practice» November 2007
- **7-2007** Hilde Randi Høydal« Samordning av samfunnssikkerhet i norsk sentralforvaltning» November 2007
- 8-2007 Tom Christensen, Anne Lise Fimreite and Per Lægreid: « Crisis management The Case of Internal Security in Norway.» December 2007
- 9-2007 *Torkel Grahm Haga:* «Myten om et integrert tilsyn; en studie av Mattilsynets etablering og drift». Desember 2007.

#### 2006

- 1-2006 Martin Byrkjeland: «Høgare utdanningstilbod på Vestlandet og i Agder-fylka.» May 2006.
- **2-2006** *Svanaug Fjær*: «Dagsverket lavterskel arbeidstilbud for rusavhengige. Evalueringsrapport». June 2006.
- 3-2006 *Birgit Skjelbred-Knudsen Valde*: «Norsk anti-korrupsjonspolitikk svar på behov eller utløst av en internasjonal trend». June 2006.
- **4-2006** *Håkon Høst*: «Kunnskapsstatus vedrørende rekruttering og utdanning til pleie- og omsorgstjenestene i nordiske land». June 2006.
- **5-2006** *Ingrid Helgøy, Sturla Herfindal og Torgeir Sveri*: «Undersøkelse av hovedfags- og masterstudenters gjennomføring og vurdering av studiesituasjonen». Juni 2006.
- 6-2006 *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid:* «The whole-of-government approach regulation, performance, and public-sector reform». August 2006.
- **7-2006** *Martin Byrkjeland*: «Kortare arbeidstid Eit oversyn over diskusjonen om arbeidstidsforkortingar i Noreg 1880–2006». August 2006.

- **8-2006** *Even Nilssen*: «The EU Fight Against Poverty and Social Exclusion. Activation, Targeting and the Sustainability of the Welfare State». November 2006.
- 9-2006 Merethe Mæland Bertelsen: «Omorganisering av konkurransetilsynet». November 2006.
- **10-2006** *Rune Ervik*: «European Pension Policy Initiatives and National Reforms: Between Financial Sustainability and Adequacy». December 2006.
- 11-2006 Kaia Christina I. Grahm-Haga: «Utvikling av forvaltningsrevisjon i Norge». December 2006.
- **12-2006** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid*: «Modern Regulatory Agencies Professional and Judicial Objectivity or Increased Complexity in Decision-Making?». December 2006.
- **13-2006** *Per Lægreid, Paul G. Roness and Kristin Rubecksen:* «Modern Management Tools in Norwegian State Agencies: Regulation Inside Government or Shopping Basket?». December 2006.
- **14-2006** *Tom Christensen, Anne Lise Fimreite and Per Lægreid:* «Reform of the Employment and Welfare Administrations the Challenges of Co-ordinating Diverse Public Organisations». December 2006.

#### 2005

- **1-2005** *Ivar A. Lima og Agnete Vabø*: «Instituttstruktur og fakultetsorganisering ved HF-fakultetet, Universitetet i Bergen». May 2005.
- 2-2005 Dag Arne Christensen og Jacob Aars: «Modalen: Fra off-road til on-line på 25 år». May 2005.
- 3-2005 Nanna Kildal: «Fra arbeidsbegrepets historie: Aristoteles til Marx». May 2005.
- **4-2005** *Per Lægreid, Paul G. Roness and Kristin Rubecksen:* «Autonomy and Control in the Norwegian Civil Service: Does Agency Form Matter?» September 2005.
- 5-2005 *Per Lægreid, Paul G. Roness and Kristin Rubecksen:* «Regulating Regulatory Organizations: Controlling Norwegian Civil Service Organizations». September 2005.
- 6-2005 Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid: «Regulatory Reforms and Agencification». November 2005.
- **7-2005** Anne Lise Fimreite and Per Lægreid: «Specialization and Coordination: Implications for Integration and Autonomy in a Multi-Level System». November 2005.
- **8-2005** *Per Lægreid, Paul G. Roness and Kristin Rubecksen:* «Performance Management in Practice The Norwegian Way». November 2005.
- **9-2005** *Stig Helleren:* «Omstilling i Arbeidstilsynet: Tilsynsmeldingens konsekvenser for strategi og organisering». November 2005.
- **10-2005** *Per Lægreid, Runolfur Smari Steinthorsson and Baldur Thorhallsson:* «Europeanization of Nordic Central Governments: Towards a Transnational Regulatory State?». November 2005.
- 11-2005 *Kari Ludvigsen and Kari Tove Elvbakken:* «The Public, the Mother and the Child. Public Health Initiatives Promoting the Strong and Happy Child Focusing on Food and Mental Health».

  December 2005
- **12-2005** *Rune Ervik and Ingrid Helgøy*: «Overcoming the Barrieres and Seizing the Opportunities for Active Ageing in Norway: Report from an Expert Panel Meeting». December 2005.
- 13-2005 Ingrid Helgøy: «Active Ageing and the Norwegian Health Care System». December 2005.
- 14-2005 Martin Byrkjeland og Knut Grove: «Perspektiv på bygdeutvikling». December 2005.
- **15-2005** *Haldor Byrkjeflot:* «The Rise of a Healthcare State? Recent Healthcare Reforms in Norway». December 2005.
- **16-2005** *Monica Skjøld Johansen:* «Penga eller livet? Lederutfordringer i det reformerte norske sykehusvesenet». December 2005.
- 17-2005 Kirsti Malterud, Kari Tove Elvbakken og Per Solvang: «Helsekameratene. Gruppe for flerfaglig forskning om helse og sykdom i kulturelt perspektiv, Universitetet i Bergen 1999–2005». December 2005.

#### 2004

**1-2004** Dag Olaf Torjesen and Hallgeir Gammelsæter: «Management Between Autonomy and Transparency in the Enterprise Hospital». January 2004.

- **2-2004** Haldor Byrkjeflot and Simon Neby: «The Decentralized Path Challenged? Nordic Health Care Reforms in Comparison». January 2004.
- **3-2004** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid:* «The Fragmented State the Challenges of Combining Efficiency, Institutional Norms and Democracy». March 2004.
- 4-2004 Morten Dyrdal: «Europeisering av tilsynsmyndigheter i Norge og Sverige». Mars 2004.
- **5-2004** *Karsten Vrangbæk and Katarina Østergren:* «The Introduction of Choice in Scandinavian Hospital Systems. Arguments and Policy Processes in the Danish and the Norwegian Case». March 2004.
- **6-2004** *Marit Tjomsland*: «Internationalization at Norwegian Universities and Colleges after the Quality Reform». April 2004. The Globalization Program.
- **7-2004** Hans-Tore Hansen, Anne Hege Trædal-Henden, Olaf Jürgens and Wolfgang Voges: «Poverty among Households with Children: A Comparative Study of Lone Parents and Couples with Children in Norway and Germany». April 2004.
- **8-2004** Renate Storetvedt Lien og Arnhild Taksdal «Integrering av kjønnsperspektiv i offentlig tjenesteproduksjon og planlegging». Mai 2004.
- **9-2004** *Ingrid Helgøy og Synnøve Serigstad:* «Tilsyn som styringsform i forholdet mellom staten og kommunene». May 2004.
- 10-2004 Morten Dyrdal: «Legemiddeltilsyn og europeisering». September 2004.
- **11-2004** Bodil Ravneberg: «Økonomiske insentiv i arbeidslinjen, virker det? Evaluering av forsøksordning med kvalifiseringsstønad i 'Prosjektet Amalie' i Åsane». October 2004.
- **12-2004** *Per Lægreid and Synnøve Serigstad:* «Organizing for Homeland Security: The Case of Norway». November 2004.
- **13-2004** *Ivar Bleiklie:* «Institutional Conditions and the Responsibilities of Universities». November 2004.
- 14-2004 *Lise Hellebø*: «Food Safety at Stake the Establishment of Food Agencies». November 2004.
- **15-2004** *Katarina Østergren:* «The Institutional Construction of Consumerism. A Study of Implementing Quality Indicators». November 2004.
- **16-2004** *Ingrid Helgøy and Anne Homme:* «Governance in Primary and Lower Secondary Education. Comparing Norway, Sweden and England». November 2004.
- 17-2004 Tom Christensen, Per Lægreid and Inger Marie Stigen: «Performance Management and Public Sector Reform: The Norwegian Hospial Reform». December 2004.
- **18-2004** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid:* «Regulatory Agencies The Challenges of Balancing Agency Autonomy and Political Control». December 2004.
- **19-2004** Dag Arne Christensen: «Velferdsstat, rettighetslovgivning og lokalt selvstyre». Desember 2004.
- **20-2004** *Kristin Rubecksen:* «Civil Service Organizations in Norway: Organizational Features and Tasks». December 2004.
- **21-2004** *Kjell Erik Lommerud, Odd Rune Straume and Lars Sørgard:* «National Versus International Mergers in Unionised Oligopoly». December 2004. The Globalization Program.
- **22-2004** *Birte Folgerø Johannessen*: «Ledelse og evidens i det psykiske helsevernet, konsekvenser for kunnskapsforståelse og organisering». December 2004.
- 23-2004 Jacob Aars og Svein Kvalvåg: «Politiske uttrykksformer i en bykontekst». December 2004.
- **24-2004** *Ingrid Helgøy:* «Active Ageing in the Labour Market. Country Report Norway». December 2004.
- **25-2004** *Torgeir Sveri*: «Strukturer og reformer. En kvalitativ analyse av reformen 'Enhetlig ledelse' sett i lys av sykehusets arbeidsorganisering». December 2004.
- **26-2004** *Stig Helleren:* «Arbeidstilsynets rollekonflikt: Vekslende tilsynsstrategier mellom kontroll og veiledning». December 2004.
- **27-2004** *Kjell Erik Lommerud, Frode Meland and Odd Rune Straume*: «Globalisation and Union Opposition to Technological Change». December 2004. The Globalization Program.
- **28-2004** Frode Meland: «A Union Bashing Model of Inflation Targeting». December 2004. The Globalization Program.

- **1-2003** *Tom Christensen og Per Lægreid:* «Politisk styring og privatisering: holdninger i elitene og befolkningen». March 2003.
- **2-2003** *Ivar Bleiklie, Per Lægreid and Marjoleine H. Wik:* «Changing Government Control in Norway: High Civil Service, Universities and Prisons». March 2003.
- 3-2003 Badi H. Baltagi, Espen Bratberg and Tor Helge Holmås: «A Panel Data Study of Physicians' Labor Supply: The Case of Norway». March 2003. HEB.
- **4-2003** *Kjell Erik Lommerud, Frode Meland and Lars Sørgard*: «Unionised Oligopoly, Trade Liberalisation and Location Choice». March 2003. The Globalization Program.
- 5-2003 Lise Hellebø: «Nordic Alcohol Policy and Globalization as a Changing Force». April 2003.
- 6-2003 Kim Ove Hommen: «Tilsynsroller i samferdselssektoren». April 2003.
- **7-2003** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid*: «Trust in Government the Significance of Attitudes Towards Democracy, the Public Sector and Public Sector Reforms». April 2003.
- **8-2003** *Rune Ervik*: «Global Normative Standards and National Solutions for Pension Provision: The World Bank, ILO, Norway and South Africa in Comparative Perspective». April 2003. The Globalization Program.
- 9-2003 Nanna Kildal: «The Welfare State: Three Normative Tensions». May 2003.
- 10-2003 Simon Neby: «Politisk styring og institusjonell autonomi tre illustrasjoner». May 2003.
- **11-2003** *Nina Berven:* «Cross National Comparison and National Contexts: Is what we Compare Comparable?». July 2003. The Globalization Program.
- **12-2003** *Hilde Hatleskog Zeiner:* «Kontrollhensyn og kontrollpraksis. En studie av Food and Veterinary Office (FVO)». August 2003.
- 13-2003 Nanna Kildal: «Perspectives on Policy Transfer: The Case of the OECD». August 2003.
- **14-2003** *Erik Allardt:* «Two Lectures: Stein Rokkan and the Twentieth Century Social Science». «Den sociala rapporteringens tidstypiska förankring». September 2003.
- **15-2003** *Ilcheong Yi:* «The National Patterns of Unemployment Policies in Two Asian Countries: Malaysia and South Korea». September 2003. The Globalization Program.
- 16-2003 Dag Arne Christensen: «Active Ageing: Country Report Norway». November 2003.
- 17-2003 Kim Ove Hommen: «Tilsynspolitikk i Norge: Utflytting og autonomi». November 2003.
- **18-2003** *Dag Arne Christensen, Rune Ervik and Ingrid Helgøy:* «The Impact of Institutional Legacies on Active Ageing Policies: Norway and UK as Contrasting Cases». December 2003.
- **19-2003** Ole Frithjof Norheim og Benedicte Carlsen: «Legens doble rolle som advokat og portvakt i Fastlegeordningen. Evaluering av fastlegeordningen». December 2003. HEB.
- **20-2003** *Kurt R. Brekke og Odd Rune Straume*: «Pris- og avanseregulering i legemiddelmarkedet. En prinsipiell diskusjon og en vurdering av den norske modellen». Desember 2003. HEB.
- **21-2003** *Per Lægreid, Vidar W. Rolland, Paul G. Roness and John-Erik Ågotnes:* «The Structural Anatomy of the Norwegian State 1947–2003». December 2003.
- **22-2003** *Ivar Bleiklie, Haldor Byrkjeflot and Katarina Östergren:* «Taking Power from Knowledge. A Theoretical Framework for the Study of Two Public Sector Reforms». December 2003. ATM.
- **23-2003** *Per Lægreid, Ståle Opedal and Inger Marie Stigen:* «The Norwegian Hospital Reform Balancing Political Control and Enterprise Autonomy». December 2003. ATM.
- **24-2003** *Håkon Høst*: «Kompetansemåling eller voksenutdanning i pleie- og omsorgsfagene? Underveisrapport fra en studie av pleie- og omsorgsutdanningene». December 2003.
- **25-2003** *Kjell Erik Lommerud, Odd Rune Straume and Lars Sørgard:* «Downstream merger with upstream market power». The Globalization Program. December 2003.
- **26-2003** *Ingrid Drexel:* «Two Lectures: The Concept of Competence an Instrument of Social and Political Change». «Centrally Coordinated Decentralization No Problem? Lessons from the Italian Case». December 2003.

#### 2002

- **1-2002** *Håkon Høst:* «Lærlingeordning eller skolebasert utdanning i pleie- og omsorgsfagene?». April 2002.
- **2-2002** *Jan-Kåre Breivik, Hilde Haualand and Per Solvang:* «Rome a Temporary Deaf City! Deaflympics 2001». June 2002.

- **3-2002** *Jan-Kåre Breivik, Hilde Haualand og Per Solvang:* «Roma en midlertidig døv by! Deaflympics 2001». June 2002.
- **4-2002** *Christian Madsen:* «Spiller det noen rolle? om hverdagen på nye og gamle sykehjem». June 2002.
- **5-2002** *Elin Aasmundrud Mathiesen*: «Fritt sykehusvalg. En teoretisk analyse av konkurranse i det norske sykehusmarkedet». June 2002. HEB.
- 6-2002 Tor Helge Holmås: «Keeping Nurses at Work: A Duration Analysis». June 2002. HEB.
- **7-2002** Ingvild Halland Ørnsrud: «Mål- og resultatstyring gjennom statlige budsjettreformer». July 2002.
- 8-2002 Torstein Haaland: «Tid, situasjonisme og institusjonell utakt i systemer». July 2002.
- **9-2002** *Kristin Strømsnes:* «Samspillet mellom frivillig organisering og demokrati: Teoretiske argument og empirisk dokumentasjon». August 2002.
- **10-2002** *Marjoleine Hooijkaas Wik:* «Mangfold eller konformitet? Likheter og forskjeller innenfor og mellom fem statlige tilknytningsformer». August 2002.
- **11-2002** *Knut Helland*: «Den opprinnelige symbiosen mellom fotball og presse». September 2002.
- **12-2002** *Nina Berven:* «National Politics and Global Ideas? Welfare, Work and Legitimacy in Norway and the United States». September 2002. The Globalization Program.
- **13-2002** *Johannes Hjellbrekke:* «Globalisering som utfordring til samfunnsvitskapane». September 2002. Globaliseringsprogrammet.
- **14-2002** *Atle Møen:* «Den globale produksjonen av symbol og kunnskap. Verdsflukt og verdsherredømme». September 2002. Globaliseringsprogrammet.
- **15-2002** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid:* «Complex Patterns of Interaction and Influence Among Political and Administrative Leaders». October 2002.
- **16-2002** *Ivar Bleiklie:* «Hierarchy and Specialization. On Institutional Integration of Higher Education Systems». Oktober 2002.
- 17-002 Per Lægreid, Runolfur Smari Steinthorsson and Baldur Thorhallsson: «Europeanization of Public Administration: Effects of the EU on the Central Administration in the Nordic States». November 2002.
- **18-2002** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid*: «Trust in Government the Relative Importance of Service Satisfaction, Political Factors and Demography». November 2002.
- **19-2002** *Marit Tjomsland:* «Arbeidsinnvandringssituasjonen i Norge etter 1975». November 2002. Globaliseringsprogrammet.
- **20-2002** *Augustín José Menéndez m.fl.:* «Taxing Europe. The Case for European Taxes in Federal Perspective». December 2002. The Globalization Program.
- **21-2002** Fredrik Andersson and Kai A. Konrad: «Globalization and Risky Human Capital Investment». December 2002. The Globalization Program.
- **22-2002** Fredrik Andersson and Kai A. Konrad: «Human Capital Investment and Globalization in Extortionary States». December 2002. The Globalization Program.
- **23-2002** *Anne Lise Fimreite, Yngve Flo og Jacob Aars*: «Generalistkommune og oppgavedifferensiering. Tre innlegg». December 2002.
- **24-2002** *Knut Grove*: «Frå privat initiativ til kommunalt monopol. Lysverk, sporvegar og renovasjon i Bergen og Oslo 1850–1935». December 2002.
- **25-2002** *Knut Grove*: «Mellom 'non-intervention' og 'samfundsvillie'. Statleg og kommunal regulering av økonomisk verksemd i Norge på 1800-talet». December 2002.
- **26-2002** *Dag Arne Christensen*: «Hovedtyper av valgordninger. Proporsjonalitet eller politisk styring?». December 2002.
- 27-2002 Jan Erik Askildsen, Badi H. Baltagi and Tor Helge Holmås: «Will Increased Wages Reduce Shortage of Nurses? A Panel Data Analysis f Nurses' Labour Supply». December 2002. HEB.
- **28-2002** *Sturla Gjesdal, Peder R. Ringdal, Kjell Haug and John Gunnar Mæland:* «Medical Predictors of Disability Pension in Long-Term Sickness Absence. December 2002. HEB.
- **29-2002** Dag Arne Christensen og Jacob Aars: «Teknologi og demokrati. Med norske kommuner på nett!». December 2002.
- **30-2002** *Jacob Aars:* «Byfolk og politikk. Gjennomgang av data fra en befolkningsundersøkelse i Bergen, Oslo og Tromsø». December 2002.
- **31-2002** *Hjørdis Grove:* «Kommunaliseringsprosessen i Århus 1850–1940». December 2002.